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SUPREME COURT 
STATE OF NEW YORK            COUNTY OF SENECA 
___________________________________________________ 
 
CIRCULAR ENERG, LLC, AND SENECA DEPOT, LLC, 
 
    Petitioners-Plaintiffs, 
 
  vs. 
 
TOWN OF ROMULUS and 
TOWN OF ROMULUS TOWN BOARD, 
 
    Respondents-Defendants. 
_____________________________________________________ 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This Memorandum is submitted by Petitioner-Plaintiff (“Petitioner”) Circular enerG, LLC 

(“Circular”) in support of its Petition and Complaint (“Pet.”).  Circular plans to construct a waste-

to-energy project (“Project”) on land (“Site”) at the Seneca Army Depot in the Town of Romulus 

(“Town”) owned by Petitioner Seneca Depot, LLC (“Seneca”).  The Project would combust trash 

to generate electricity, recycle metals and ash, and comply with the strictest environmental 

regulations.  Pet. ¶ 29.  The Town and its boards have repeatedly taken actions to prohibit the 

Project, all of which have been unduly influenced by political pressure and illegitimate reasoning.   

One of those actions resulted in this proceeding.  On April 18, 2018, the Respondent-

Defendant (“Respondent”) Town Board (“Town Board”) of the Town approved the enactment of 

Town of Romulus Local Law No. 3 of 2018, entitled “A Local Law to Amend the Zoning Code 

of the Town of Romulus,” effective May 11, 2018 (“Zoning Amendments”).  Pet. ¶ 1.  It also 

passed three resolutions (together “Resolutions”): Resolution #35-18, “Town Board of the Town 

of Romulus Designates Itself as Lead Agency for SEQR for Proposed Local Law #3”; Resolution 

#36-18, “Romulus Town Board Established as Lead Agency for SEQR for Proposed Local Law 
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#3”; and Resolution # 37-18, “Revision to current Zoning Ordinance – Local Law #3.” See Pet. ¶ 

73; Exhibit L.  

The Town Board was apparently unhappy with the Interpretations, so it undertook efforts 

to revise the then current Zoning Law, a local law entitled “Zoning Ordinance for the Town of 

Romulus, Seneca County, New York,” effective May 27, 2015 (“2015 Zoning Law”), in an effort 

to stop the Project.  Pet. ¶ 2.  The Town Board claims that the purpose of the Zoning Amendments 

was to “clarify the original intent of the [2015 Zoning Law]… clarify definitions and other 

provisions in the [2015 Zoning Law]; clarify the town’s zoning intent regarding allowable energy 

production, landfills, and Waste handling and disposal ...”  See Pet. ¶ 55; Exhibit G, Environmental 

Assessment Forms (“EAF”) Part 1, 2, and 3. 

The Town Board prepared and drafted an initial version of the Zoning Amendments, dated 

February 27, 2018.  See Pet. ¶56; Exhibit H.  The Town Board again revised the Zoning 

Amendments on March 1, 2018, entitled “March 1 Zoning Amendments.”  See Pet. ¶ 57; Exhibit 

I.  The final revisions are dated March 23, 2018, and are what were filed with the Department of 

State on May 11, 2018.  See Pet. ¶ 58; Exhibit A.   Essentially, the Zoning Amendments changed 

the allowable uses within an I/W Zoning District by prohibiting Waste-to-Energy facilities, by 

replacing the term “Renewable Energy Production (Solar, Wind, Biomass, Geothermal, ect. [sic]- 

Utility Scale” with “Clean Energy Production-Large Scale.”  See Pet. Exhibits A and B.  The term 

“Clean Energy Production-Large Scale” specifically excludes Waste-to-Energy.  See Pet. ¶59; 

Exhibit A, p. 8. 

The Zoning Amendments would prohibit the Project, so residents and businesses in the 

Town, the surrounding areas, and other areas of the State, would need to continue to use landfills 

to manage their waste rather than send them to the Project for conversion to energy and recycling.   
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Another action improperly taken by the Town was when the Town of Romulus Zoning 

Board of Appeals (“ZBA”) improperly made a decision to grant an appeal, and adopt a resolution 

which vacated zoning interpretations issued by the Town of Romulus Zoning Officer, dated March 

16, 2017, and August 28, 2017 (“Interpretations”).  Seneca’s principal, Michael Palumbo, had 

obtained the two Interpretations which ruled that under the 2015 Zoning Law, a Waste-to-Energy 

facility would be allowed on the Site by Special Use Permit from the Town Planning Board.  Pet. 

¶¶ 47-48; Exhibits E and F.   The Interpretations stated that a “waste-to-energy facility … would 

be classified under Article IV, Section 1 of the Town of Romulus Zoning Law as ‘Renewable 

Energy Production (Solar, Wind, Biomass, Geothermal, etc.) – Utility scale,’” which would be 

allowed by Special Use Permit.  Id.  The Interpretations also ruled that such a facility “would not 

be prohibited under Article IV, Section 4(A) of the Romulus Zoning Law as a ‘noxious or 

injurious’ use, provided it substantially complies with applicable environmental regulations.”  Id.  

After the Interpretations were issued, Circular proceeded to hire engineers and consultants 

to prepare an application for a Special Use Permit (“Application”), which attached environmental 

studies, plans and the Interpretations, and was filed with the Town on November 6, 2017.  Pet. ¶ 

33.  Widespread public opposition ensued.   

On February 1, 2018, an appeal was filed with the ZBA.  Pet. ¶ 51.  In spite of Petitioners’ 

objections that the appeal was untimely and that the appellant, who lived four miles away from the 

Site, was not “aggrieved,” the ZBA heard the appeal.   On April 26, 2018, the ZBA granted the 

appeal by a vote of 3 to 0.  Petitioners brought a proceeding in this Court under CPLR Article 78 

against the ZBA and the Town of Romulus on May 29, 2018, entitled Circular enerG LLC and 

Seneca Depot, LLC v. Petitioners-Plaintiffs, vs. Town of Romulus, and Town of Romulus Zoning 

Board of Appeals, Respondents-Defendants, Alan Kiehle, Earl Martin and John Does, Necessary 
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or Interested Parties, Index No. 20180064.  That proceeding is currently pending in this Court. 

As discussed more thoroughly below, the Zoning Amendments were plainly enacted in an 

attempt to stop Circular enerG’s Project.   The Zoning Amendments were passed in violation of 

the State Environmental Quality Review Act (“SEQRA”) (Environmental Conservation Law 

(“ECL”) Article 8), and are unlawful on their face and in operation, as they constitutes 

impermissible spot zoning.  Furthermore, the actions of The Town constitute a taking and 

abridgement of Petitioners’ constitutional rights. 
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 
 

POINT ONE 
 

THE ZONING AMENDMENTS ARE INVALID 
BECAUSE THE TOWN VIOLATED SEQRA 

 
A. SEQRA Requires Strict Compliance. 

The legislative intent is clear that “to the fullest extent possible the policies, statutes, 

regulations and ordinances of the state and its political subdivisions should be interpreted and 

administered in accordance with the policies set forth in [SEQRA].” ECL §8-0103(6).  

Accordingly, “literal” or “strict compliance” with the SEQRA process has been mandated by the 

courts, and “substantial compliance” has been held insufficient.  King v. Saratoga Board of 

Supervisors, 89 N.Y.2d 341, 653 N.Y.S.2d 233 (1996); Taxpayers Opposed To Floodmart, Ltd. v. 

City of Hornell Industrial Development Agency, 212 A.D.2d 958, 624 N.Y.S.2d 689, 690 (4th 

Dept. 1995), stay vac’d 85 N.Y.2d 961, 628 N.Y.S.2d 48 (1995), app. dis’d 85 N.Y.2d 812, 631 

N.Y.S.2d 289 (1995); Badura v. Guelli, 94 A.D.2d 972, 973, 464 N.Y.S.2d 98, 99 (4th Dept. 1983). 

 Accordingly, before an agency can make a “significant authorization” for an “action” 

subject to SEQRA, it must comply with SEQRA.  6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.3(a); Devitt v. Heimbach, 

58 N.Y.2d 925, 460 N.Y.S.2d 512 (1983).  Otherwise, the action is invalid.  Tri-County Taxpayers 

Assoc. v. Town Board of Queensbury, 55 N.Y.2d 41, 447 N.Y.S.2d 699 (1982); Taxpayers 

Opposed To Floodmart, Ltd. v. City of Hornell Industrial Development Agency, 212 A.D.2d 958, 

624 N.Y.S.2d 689, 690 (4th Dept. 1995), stay vac’d 85 N.Y.2d 961, 628 N.Y.S.2d 48 (1995), app. 

dis’d 85 N.Y.2d 812, 631 N.Y.S.2d 289 (1995). 

The SEQRA process requires that a lead agency make a "determination of significance" by 

reviewing the EAF, and decide whether the proposal "may include the potential for at least one 

significant adverse environmental impact." 6 N.Y.C.R.R.  §617.7(a)(l).  If so, a draft, and then a 
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final EIS must be prepared.  ECL §8-0109(2); 6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.7(a)(l). If not, the lead agency 

must make a negative declaration that the project will not have a significant adverse environmental 

impact. 6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.7(b)(2). 

To determine the potential for at least one significant adverse environmental impact, the 

lead agency "must identify 'the relevant areas of environmental concern' and take a 'hard look' at 

them." Person v. McNealy, 90 N.Y.2d 742, 665 N.Y.S.2d 605, 609 (1997); Kahn v. Pasnik, 90 

N.Y.2d 569, 664 N.Y.S.2d 584 (1997).  According to the SEQRA regulations, the lead agency 

must "thoroughly analyze the identified relevant areas of environmental concern to determine if 

the action may have a significant effect on the environment."  6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.7(b)(iii).  This 

scope of analysis is broad, as ECL §8-0109(2) requires that all potential environmental impacts of 

a project subject to an environmental review be considered, including the long-term and short-term 

effects of the project.  It is well settled that because the operative word triggering the requirement 

of an EIS is 'may,' there is a relatively low threshold for impact statements."  Farrington Close 

Condominium Bd. of Managers v. Incorporated Village of Southampton, 205 A.D.2d 623, 624, 

613 N.Y.S.2d 257 (2d Dep’t 1994); see also, H. 0. M. E. S. v. New York State Urban Development 

Corp., 69 A.D.2d 222, 232, 418 N.Y.S.2d 827, 832 (4th Dep't 1979). 

B. The Town Failed to Evaluate the Cumulative Impacts of Banning Waste-to-Energy 
and Most Other Renewable Energy. 
 
The Town violated SEQRA by not adequately reviewing all impacts associated with the 

Zoning Amendments.  Specifically, the Town did not review the environmental impact of 

prohibiting a viable waste management option – Waste-to-Energy, and instead committed itself to 

landfilling waste management practices.  The SEQRA review of the Zoning Amendments needed 

to consider all of the potential environmental impacts of the continued use of landfills to manage 

waste from the Town, Seneca County and other areas of the State.  The Town’s failure to 
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adequately consider all impacts resulted in illegal segmentation. 

The SEQRA regulations are very clear on what is required by a lead agency.  The 

regulations recognize that “[a]ctions commonly consist of a set of activities or steps.” 6 

N.Y.C.R.R. §617.3(g).  Therefore, “[c]onsidering only a part or segment of an action is contrary 

to the intent of SEQR[A].”  6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.3(g)(1).  SEQRA prohibits “segmentation,” which 

is defined as “the division of the environmental review of an action such that various activities or 

stages are addressed under this Part as though they were independent, unrelated activities, needing 

individual determinations of significance.” 6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.2(ag).  

Further, where rezoning is merely a step in the process of developing a property, the 

rezoning body is obligated to consider not just the impacts of the rezoning generically, but also the 

specific impacts related to the project at which it is directed.  Defreestville Area Neighborhoods 

Ass'n, Inc. v. Town Bd. of Town of North Greenbush, 299 A.D.2d 631, 633, 750 N.Y.S.2d 164, 167 

(3d Dep’t 2002) (annulling rezoning where SEQRA review of the rezoning was limited to the 

rezoning generically, and not the forthcoming development).  This is a settled rule of law, and the 

Town’s willful disregard of this rule despite Petitioners’ specific protests, warrants annulment of 

the Zoning Amendments.  See e.g. Matter of Citizens Concerned for Harlem Val. Envt. v. Town 

Bd. of Town of Amenia, 264 A.D.2d 394, 394, 694 N.Y.S.2d 108 (2d Dep’t 1999); Matter of Eggert 

v. Town Bd. of Town of Westfield, 217 A.D.2d 975, 976, 630 N.Y.S.2d 179 (4th Dep’t 1995); 

Matter of Brew v. Hess, 124 A.D.2d 962, 508 N.Y.S.2d 712 (3d Dep’t 1986); Matter of Kirk-Astor 

Dr. Neighborhood Assn. v. Town Bd. of Town of Pittsford, 106 A.D.2d 868, 869, 483 N.Y.S.2d 

526 (4th Dep’t 1984). 

The adoption of the Zoning Amendments “commi[ts] the Town Board to a definite course 

of future decisions which are reasonably likely to result from and are dependent on zoning 
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approval.”  Kirk-Astor, 106 A.D.2d at 869.  Failure to assess the impacts of the Zoning Amendments 

“in the detailed, systematic fashion envisioned in Part II of the model EAF” demonstrates a failure 

to undertake the proper SEQRA review.  Kirk-Astor, 106 A.D.2d at 869.  Furthermore, the Town 

was required to assess the cumulative impact of the ban on Waste-to-Energy on other areas of the 

Town, County and State.  Chinese Staff & Workers Assoc. v. City of New York, 68 N.Y.2d 359, 

509 N.Y.S.2d 499 (1986) (SEQRA review needed to consider housing for residents displaced by 

project). 

In fact, the Town actually incorrectly responded to questions on the EAF, Part 1 and Part 

2, required as part of its SEQRA review.  See Pet ¶ 89; Exhibit G.  The Town should have answered 

“Yes” on the following questions on the EAF Part 1: “Will the proposed action generate or emit 

methane?”; “Will the proposed action result in the release of air pollutant from open-air operations 

or processes, such as quarry or landfill operations?”  Pet. ¶ 90; Exhibit G.  By eliminating Waste-

to-Energy plants from the Town, the Town has committed to increase its generation and methane 

emissions by using landfills to dispose of waste, both from sources inside and outside of the Town.  

Pet. ¶ 91.  It is well-known that landfills generate far more methane than a Waste-to-Energy 

facility.  Pet. ¶ 92.  

The current State Solid Waste Management Plan, Beyond Waste,1 encourages additional 

Waste-to-Energy facilities, and clearly lays out the downsides of continuing on the current path of 

landfilling the majority of the State’s waste.  Pet. ¶ 93.  The Plan states that “[Waste-to-Energy] 

offers advantages over disposal in landfills. This is primarily because treatment through 

combustion facilities: reduces the amount of waste sent to landfills for disposal and the methane 

generated by landfilling; recovers metals that would otherwise be wasted; produces electricity 

                                                 
1 http://www.dec.ny.gov/docs/materials_minerals_pdf/frptbeyondwaste.pdf 
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more efficiently than landfill gas‐to‐energy facilities, and offsets fossil fuel electricity generation.”  

See ¶ Pet. 94; p. 52.  

Also, generally landfills generate more greenhouse gases (“GHGs”) then Waste-to-Energy 

facilities. An assessment of the net GHG emissions from the Project and a comparative assessment 

of landfilling mixed MSW conclude that the Project activities overall reduce GHG emissions and 

have a significantly beneficial GHG emission impact as compared to landfilling the same material.  

Pet. ¶ 96.  This information was presented to the Town of Romulus Planning Board in the 

Application.   The results are detailed in the following chart: 

Waste Disposal Method Net GHG Emissions 
(TPY CO2e)2 

Project Waste-to-Energy -31,759 
Landfilling 136,726 

Net Benefit Waste-to-Energy to 
Landfill 

-168,485 

 
Id.  By enacting the Zoning Amendments, the Town is trying to stop the Project and similar Waste-

to-Energy facilities, and thus is contributing to global warming.  This resulting environmental 

impact must be assessed, since SEQRA requires the assessment of cumulative impacts, including 

global warming.  6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.7(c)(2). 

 In addition, as discussed in Point Two, infra, the effect of the Zoning Amendments will be 

to ban most other renewable energy production from the Town, including all wind energy and 

most agricultural and other non-residential solar projects, forcing use of fossil fuels.  The SEQRA 

review failed to address this point also.  

Recently, Supreme Court in this County required a town to prepare a full environmental 

impact statement when it enacted a law that allowed the Seneca Meadows Landfill to continue 

operating past 2025.  The Court in Waterloo Contractors, Inc. v. Town of Seneca Falls Town Bd., 

                                                 
2 A negative value represents a GHG emission reduction. 
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stated that it “defies credulity” that a town was able to review the impacts from the continued 

operation of a landfill, and determine that “there was not one single area of environmental concern 

that would result in any impact more than a small impact.”  2017 WL 4221119 (Sup. Ct. Seneca 

Co., Hon. William F. Kocher, A.J.S.C., Sept. 13, 2017), 2017 N.Y. Slip Op. 31977(U). A copy 

this Decision is appended to this Memorandum of Law as Appendix A.  The Court annulled the 

Town’s negative declaration and mandated the Town issue a positive declaration and undergo the 

environmental impact statement process.  Id.   

Here, the Zoning Amendments essentially require the Town, the nearby communities, and 

other areas of the State, to rely more on landfilling practices, including the use of the nearby Seneca 

Meadows Landfill.  Without the requisite environmental review of this potentially significant 

adverse impact, the Town has violated SEQRA.  The Town must prepare a full environmental 

impact statement, just as the Court required in Waterloo Contractors.  There is just no reasonable 

justification for concluding that increased landfilling will not result in any significant 

environmental impacts, and at the very least the Town needed to evaluate this issue. 

Further, on Part 2 of the EAF, the Town should not have answered “No” to whether “The 

proposed action may include a state regulated air emission source.”  See Pet. ¶100; Exhibit G, 

Section 6, page 4 of 10.  Specifically, The Town should have answered and analyzed the level of 

impact to air for the following question: “If the proposed action requires federal or state air 

emission permits, the action may also emit one or more greenhouse gases at or about the following 

levels . . .”  Pet. ¶ 101.  Further, the Zoning Amendments will likely impact agricultural resources 

because more land will needed to be devoted to landfilling rather than agriculture, so the Town 

should have answered “Yes” to whether “The proposed action may impact agricultural resources.”  

See Pet. ¶ 104; Exhibit G, Section 8, page 5 of 10.  
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C. The Town Board Failed to Make a Proper Negative Declaration and Reasoned 
Elaboration. 
 
Once the lead agency has made its determination of significance, it must “set forth its 

determination of significance in a written form containing a reasoned elaboration and providing 

reference to any supporting documentation.”  6 N.Y.C.R.R. §617.7(b)(iv); Jaffee v. RCI Corp., 

119 A.D.2d 854, 855, 500 N.Y.S.2d 427, 428 (1986).   A negative declaration is invalid if it was 

not supported by a written, narrative "reasoned elaboration." See, e.g., Board of Coop. Educ. Servs. 

of Albany-Schoharie-Schenectady-Saratoga Counties v. Town of Colonie, 268 A.D.2d 838, 702 

N.Y.S.2d 219 (3d Dep't 2000); Rochester Telephone Mobile Communication v. Cole, 224 A.D.2d 

918,637 N.Y.S.2d 878 (4th Dep't 1996).  

In the case at bar, the Town violated SEQRA by failing to make a Negative Declaration or 

perform a reasoned elaboration under SEQRA, since the Town Board failed in the April 18, 2018 

minutes to state that it adopted a Negative Declaration or approve EAF Parts 1, 2, and 3.  See Pet. 

¶ 106; Exhibit L.  These omissions are fatal, since the resolution making a negative declaration 

must be supported by a reasoned elaboration.  Dawley v. Whitetail 414, LLC, 130 A.D.3d 1570, 

14 N.Y.S.3d 854 (4th Dep’t 2015) (negative declaration annulled where reasoning for the 

determination was not contained in the town board resolution). Regardless, the reasoning 

embodied in EAF Part 3 is insufficient because the Town failed to consider all environmental 

impacts of the adoption of the Zoning Amendments, so it is not a sufficient “reasoned elaboration.” 

See Pet. Exhibit G. 

Accordingly, this Court should annul the Zoning Amendments due to the Town’s failure 

to strictly comply with SEQRA. 
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POINT TWO 
 

THE ZONING AMENDMENTS  
WERE ARBITRARY AND IRRATIONAL  

 
A. Waste is a Renewable Energy Source.  

The Zoning Amendments specifically exclude “Waste” as a renewable energy resource.  

However, solid waste is classified as a “renewable energy” in the State of New York.  See Energy 

Law §1-103(12) (defining “Renewable energy resources” as “sources which are capable of being 

continuously restored by natural or other means or are so large as to be useable for centuries 

without significant depletion and include but are not limited to solar, wind, plant and forest 

products, wastes, tidal, hydro, geothermal, deuterium, and hydrogen.”); see also Public Authorities 

Law §1851 (defining “new energy technologies” to include “all methods used to produce, 

distribute, conserve and store energy by methods not in common commercial use, with emphasis 

on renewable energy sources including but not limited to solar, wind, bioconversion and solid 

waste”); see also Internal Revenue Code §45(c)(1)(G). Pet. ¶ 111.  The Town did not put forth any 

valid reasoned elaboration for why it was excluding Waste-to-Energy.  

When the Public Service Commission issued its Order Regarding Retail Renewable 

Portfolio Standard, it recognized municipal solid waste “as a potentially important energy resource 

and encourages the industry to implement processes such as source separation, gasification, or 

other practices that would advance the state-of-the-art for waste-to energy technology to mitigate 

concerns expressed on the record and make access to RPS incentives more appropriate.”3 Pet. ¶ 

112.  Thus, there was no rational basis for the Town to prohibit Waste-to-Energy facilities. 

                                                 
3 See Case 03-E-0188, Order Regarding Retail Renewable Portfolio Standard at 
http://documents.dps.ny.gov/public/MatterManagement/MatterFilingItem.aspx?FilingSeq=9954&MatterSeq=17612,  
p. 8.  
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B. The Zoning Amendments Fail to Define “Renewable Energy Production.”   

The Zoning Amendments do not define “Renewable Energy Production,” even though it 

capitalizes that term, and uses it within multiple definitions.  See Pet. ¶124; Exhibit A, p. 8. 

(Definition of “Clean Energy Production – Large Scale” is defined as “Utility Scale renewable 

energy production means Renewable Energy Production facilities with a collective total nameplate 

generating capacity of 25 kW or larger.”); id. (Definition of “Clean Energy Production” is defined 

as “Energy produced from wind, solar, water power that does not dam or otherwise block an entire 

flowing body of water, and/or geothermal heating/cooling systems. . . Renewable Energy 

Production does not include any uses of combustion or other systems that consume Waste, biogas, 

biomass, liquid biofuel, or any other fuels and/or produces any combination of solid, liquid, or 

gaseous wastes or byproducts in the process of producing energy.”).  

The Town’s intent in enacting the Zoning Amendments was to “clarify” the 2015 Zoning 

Law.  It clearly did not accomplish that.  See Pet. ¶ 125; Exhibit G, EAF Part 3.   The Zoning 

Amendments cannot be read logically without this term being defined.   

C. The Zoning Amendments Unreasonably Restrict All Renewable Energy Sources. 

The Zoning Amendments limit “Clean Energy Production – Large Scale,” and “Energy 

Production – Natural Gas – Large Scale” having a maximum nameplate capacity of 25 kW.  Pet. 

¶ 126.  The Zoning Amendments states “[a]ll uses not listed herein are prohibited,” see Exhibit A, 

p. 22, so all “clean” energy production over 25 kW is prohibited. Pet. ¶ 127.  However, 25 kW is 

a relatively small amount of energy and is certainly, not “Large Scale,” as defined in the Zoning 

Amendments. 

For example, the NY-SUN program, which provides incentives for solar energy projects 

in New York State, provides incentives for solar on residential property for systems up to 25 kW 
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and for businesses, schools, and local governments up to 750 kW.  Pet. ¶ 129.  Therefore, the 

Zoning Amendments would essentially prohibit any solar projects larger than residential projects. 

Further, New York State Energy Research and Development Authority’s Small Wind 

Turbine Incentive Program provides incentives for on-site wind turbines with capacity up to 2,000 

kW, with the current wind turbines eligible for incentives ranging from 225 kW to 1,815 kW.   

Many area farms would be eligible for these incentives, but may be unable to do so because of the 

Zoning Amendments.    Pet. ¶ 133. An average wind turbine has a nameplate generating capacity 

of 2 megawatts (“MW”), which equals 2000 kW.  The Town has essentially prohibited all wind 

energy production. Pet. ¶ 135.  This action was arbitrary and lacked a rational basis. 

POINT THREE 
 

THE TOWN FAILED TO COMPLY WITH 
GENERAL MUNICIPAL LAW §239-M 

 
Failure to comply with the General Municipal Law (“GML”) §239-m referral requirement 

renders the municipal act in question invalid.  Ernalex Const. Realty Corp. v. City of Glen Cove, 

256 A.D.2d 336, 338, 681 N.Y.S.2d 296, 298 (2d Dep’t 1998). The GML §239-m requirement is 

jurisdictional, meaning towns are not permitted to take certain actions until the necessary referral 

to a county planning board has occurred.  Municipal entities must provide the county planning 

boards with the “final version” of the materials under review.  LCS Realty Co., Inc. v. Incorporated 

Village of Roslyn, 273 A.D.2d 474, 710 N.Y.S.2d 605 (2d Dep’t 2000). 

In Ferrari v. Town of Penfield Planning Bd., 181 A.D.2d 149, 585 N.Y.S.2d 925 (4th Dep’t 

1992), a site plan applicant had submitted plans to a planning board, which subsequently referred 

to a county planning board.  Afterwards, the applicant modified the plans, but the planning board 

did not resubmit the plans to the county planning board.  The Fourth Department held that the 

planning board’s failure to refer the revised plans to the county planning board rendered the 
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subsequent approvals “null and void,” because “the revisions [we]re so substantially different from 

the original proposal [that], the county or regional board should have the opportunity to review 

and make recommendations on the new and revised plans.”  Id. at 152.   

Here, as in Ferrari, the Zoning Amendments submitted to the Seneca County Planning 

Board differed so substantially from the Zoning Amendments that were actually enacted, that this 

Court should find that the Town failed to comply with GML §239-m, and thus, the Zoning 

Amendments should be declared invalid. 

On March 8, 2018, the Seneca County Planning Board undertook a review under GML 

§239-m.   Pet. ¶ 68.  The County Planning Board was only provided the March 1 Zoning 

Amendments, not the final Zoning Amendments that was eventually enacted.   Pet. ¶ 69.  The two 

versions differ dramatically.  See Pet. Exhibit K, Comparison between March 1 Zoning 

Amendments and March 23 Zoning Amendments.  For instance, several definitions were added, 

definition of “Clean Energy Production,” “Clean Energy Production – Large Scale,” and “Natural 

Gas,” and several definitions were amended, like “Energy Productions – Natural Gas – Large 

Scale,” and “Waste.”  Pet. ¶ 71.  Importantly, it was not apparent in the March 1 Zoning 

Amendments that Waste-to-Energy would be completely prohibited within the Town, since the 

prohibition is contained within the definition of “Clean Energy Production,” which was added only 

to the March 23 Zoning Amendments. 

Therefore, this is not a case where the revisions contained within the March 23 Zoning 

Amendments were “embraced within the original referral.”  See Matter of Benson Point Realty 

Corp. v. Town of E. Hampton, 62 A.D.3d 989, 992, 880 N.Y.S.2d 144, 147 (2d Dep’t 2009).   In 

Benson, a local law was proposed, amending a town’s use district map, specifically rezoning an 

applicant’s parcel to residence district A5, which required a minimum of five acres for each 
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residential lot.  The town referred the local law to the county planning board.  Then the town 

revised the local law to rezone the applicant’s parcel from A5 to A3, which required a minimum 

three acres for each residential lot.  

Here, the revisions to the Zoning Amendments were much more substantial and impactful 

to the entire town.  It was not a matter of changing one zoning district as in Benson; the revisions 

made to the Zoning Amendments effected the entire Town.  Waste-to-Energy is not permitted 

within the entire Town.  Further, as detailed more fully above, the definition of “Clean Energy 

Production- Large Scale” unreasonably restricts renewable energy development within the entire 

Town because of the low 25 kW threshold.   

The Seneca County Planning Board should have had the opportunity to review the 

substantial revisions.   Thus, the Town failed to comply with GML §239-m, and thus, the Zoning 

Amendments should be declared invalid. 

POINT FOUR 
 

THE TOWN IS PREEMPTED 
FROM REGULATING WASTE-TO-ENERGY FACILITIES 

 
Towns have been granted certain power by the State in Constitution Article IX; Municipal 

Home Rule Law, Section 10; Town Law, Section 130.  The Court of Appeals has stated “in the 

spirit of this broad principle, article IX (§2, subd [c], par [ii]) of the New York State Constitution 

specifies that any local law be ‘not inconsistent with * * * any general law” and that the legislative 

power of local government is limited “to the extent that the legislature shall restrict the adoption 

of such a local law.”’  People v. De Jesus, 54 N.Y.2d 465, 468, 446 N.Y.S.2d 208 (1981) (citing 

NY Const. 2(c)(ii)).  The use of the term “not inconsistent” provides a limitation on municipal 

powers.  Wholesale Laundry Bd. of Trade, Inc. v. City of New York, 17 A.D.2d 327, 329, 234 

N.Y.S.2d 862, 864 (1st Dep’t 1962), aff'd, 12 N.Y.2d 998, 239 N.Y.S.2d 128 (1963).   
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These constitutional powers and limitations are implemented by the Municipal Home Rule 

Law §10, which states “every local government shall have power to adopt and amend local laws 

not inconsistent with the provisions of the constitution or not inconsistent with any general law 

relating to its property, affairs or government.”  Similarly, Town Law §130 states a “town board 

after a public hearing may enact, amend and repeal ordinances, rules and regulations not 

inconsistent with law.”   

The term “inconsistent” does not merely mean “different,” but rather “it is a check against 

local laws which would contradict or would be incompatible or inharmonious with the general 

laws of the State.”  Town of Clifton Park v. C. P. Enterprises, 45 A.D.2d 96, 98, 356 N.Y.S.2d 

122, 124 (3rd Dep’t 1974).  One way that a municipal regulation is inconsistent with a general law 

is when it prohibits what the general laws of the State permit, or it imposes a prerequisite on rights 

under State law.  See Consol. Edison Co. of New York, Inc. v. Town of Red Hook, 60 N.Y.2d 99, 

107-08, 468 N.Y.S.2d 596, 600-01 (1983); see also Jewish Consumptives' Relief Soc. v. Town of 

Woodbury, 230 A.D. 228, 235, 243 N.Y.S. 686 (2d Dep’t 1930), aff'd, 256 N.Y. 619 (1931).   

The court in Jewish Consumptives’ found that a local law which prohibited tuberculosis 

institutions within the town was not consistent with the provisions of the Public Health Law.  Id. 

at 237.  The town had “no right to exclude such institution,” rather only had the “power to limit 

the places in which such institutions may be established.”  Id.  Yet the local law excluded such 

institutions from any part of the town.  The court held that a local law which prohibits what the 

state law permits is inconsistent and unauthorized.  Id.  

The landmark decision in Jewish Consumptives’ has been reiterated time and time again, 

and courts throughout the state have similarly held that it is inconsistent with state law to prohibit 

what the state law permits.  See Holy Sepulchre Cemetery v. Town of Greece, 191 Misc. 241, 79 
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N.Y.S.2d 683 (Sup. Ct. Monroe Co. 1947), aff'd, 273 A.D. 942, 79 N.Y.S.2d 863 (4th Dep’t 1948) 

(a municipality may not make its own regulations and restrictions inconsistent with State law, and 

it may not prohibit that which the State law permits); see also Union Free Sch. Dist. No. 14 of 

Town of Hempstead, Nassau County v. Village of Hewlett Bay Park, 279 A.D. 618, 107 N.Y.S.2d 

858 (2d Dep’t 1951); S. H. Kress & Co. v. Dept. of Health of City of New York, 283 N.Y. 55, 60 

(1940) (“A general grant of local administrative power never confers authority to abrogate a 

general State statute”); Wholesale Laundry Bd. of Trade, Inc. v. City of New York, 17 A.D.2d 327, 

329, 234 N.Y.S.2d 862, 864 (1st Dep’t 1962), aff'd, 12 N.Y.2d 998, 239 N.Y.S.2d 128 (1963) 

(“where the extension of the principle of the State law by means of the local law results in a 

situation where what would be permissible under the State law becomes a violation of the local 

law, the latter law is unauthorized”); People v. Cook, 34 N.Y.2d 100, 109, 356 N.Y.S.2d 259, 267 

(1974) (“a local law may be said to be inconsistent with State law because it prohibits something 

acceptable under the State law”); Hanson v. Town Bd. of Town of Nassau, 16 Misc. 3d 1137(A), 

851 N.Y.S.2d 58 (Sup. Ct. Rensselaer Co. 2007) (“a local law would be invalid if it results in a 

situation where conduct permitted by state law would violate the local law”); cf. Sunshine Chem. 

Corp. v. Suffolk County, 104 A.D.2d 869, 870, 480 N.Y.S.2d 379, 381 (2d Dep’t 1984) (local law 

“does not prohibit what the State law permits nor allows what the State law forbids. Therefore, it 

is not inconsistent with the State law.”); Zagoreos v. Conklin, 109 A.D.2d 281, 297-98, 491 

N.Y.S.2d 358 (2d Dep’t 1985) (upholding disapproval of site plan due to insufficient ash disposal 

plan, since town is authorized to impose stricter standards than NYSDEC “as long as its action is 

otherwise valid”). 

 Here, the Town is preempted from regulating Waste-to-Energy facilities due to Article 10 

of the Public Service Law (“Article 10”), and Article 27 of the ECL.  In New York, Waste-to-
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Energy facilities with a nameplate capacity over 25 megawatts, must obtain a certificate of 

environmental compatibility and public need, and a Solid Waste Management Permit from the 

New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (“NYSDEC”).  Public Service Law 

§160.  The Town, by enacting the Zoning Amendments, is attempting to regulate, and actually 

prohibit, electric generating facilities with a nameplate generating capacity of 25 MW.  The Town 

is preempted from regulating these types of facilities under the Public Service Law.  

 Additionally, the relevant portion of the ECL states that “[a]ny local laws, ordinances or 

regulations of any governing body of a county, city, town or village which are not inconsistent 

with this title [Title 7 of ECL Article 27] or with any rule or regulation . . . shall not be superseded 

by [this title].”  ECL §27-0711.  The Zoning Amendments are inconsistent with Article 27 by 

totaling banning Waste-to-Energy facilities, rather than merely regulating such facilities.  

Thus, the Town has exceeded its authority under the N.Y. Constitution Article IX, Section 

2(c), Municipal Home Rule §10, and Town Law §130, Article 10, and the ECL because it is 

banning what State law permits with a NYSDEC permit, and thus, it cannot stand.  

POINT FIVE 
 

THE TOWN BOARD VIOLATED 
PUBLIC OFFICERS LAW §103 

 
The Zoning Amendments were adopted in violation of the Open Meetings Law and should 

therefore be annulled.  A court is empowered in its discretion and upon good cause shown to 

declare void any action taken by a public body in violation of the Open Meetings Law.  Brander 

v. Town of Warren Town Bd., 18 Misc.3d 477, 847 N.Y.S.2d 450 (Sup. Ct. Onondaga Co. 2007).  

Public Officers Law §103(e) provides: 

[A]ny proposed resolution… that is scheduled to be the subject of discussion by a 
public body during an open meeting shall be made available, upon request therefor, 
to the extent practicable as determined by the agency or the department, prior to or 
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at the meeting during which the records will be discussed…  If the agency in which 
a public body functions maintains a regularly and routinely updated website and 
utilizes a high speed internet connection, such records shall be posted on the 
website to the extent practicable as determined by the agency or the department, 
prior to the meeting. 
 

 Here, the Town utilizes a high speed internet connection and maintains a regularly and 

routinely updated website, which can be accessed at http://www.romulustown.com.  Pet. ¶166.  It 

was quickly utilized by the Town to publicize the Project and post the Application.  Pet. ¶¶33.   

The Town was prepared prior to the hearing at which the Zoning Amendments were approved, yet 

the Resolutions were not posted on the Town’s website prior to the hearing.  Pet. ¶165.  There is 

no reason that posting the Resolutions was not practicable.  Pet. ¶ 168.  As a result, the adoption 

of the Resolutions was made in violation of Public Officers Law §103(e), and should be annulled.    

Further, Public Officers Law §103(a) states “every meeting of a public body shall be open 

to the general public, except that an executive session of such body may be called and business 

transacted thereat in accordance with section ninety-five of this article.”  Prior to the April 18, 

2018 meeting, the Town Board held a workshop meeting with the Town attorneys regarding the 

Zoning Amendments, but did not notice the public of this meeting. Pet. ¶162.  Upon information 

and belief, an executive session was not called.  Pet. ¶ 163.  Thus, the Town Board violated Public 

Officers Law §103(a). 

Thus, because the Town violated the Open Meetings Law, the court should exercise its 

discretion and award counsel fees and costs to Petitioners.  See e.g. Ballard v. New York Safety 

Track LLC, 126 A.D.3d 1073, 5 N.Y.S.3d 542 (3d Dep’t 2015) (trial court reasonably exercised 

its discretion in awarding counsel fees and costs to petitioners commencing Article 78 proceeding 

for planning board's purported violation of requirements of Open Meetings Law). 
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POINT SIX 
 

PETITIONERS’ CONSTITUTIONAL  
RIGHTS HAVE BEEN VIOLATED 

The Zoning Amendments, and the other actions of The Town singling out Petitioners and 

their Project, and specifically directed at stopping the Project, are unconstitutional as applied to or 

directed at Petitioners, in violation of constitutional guarantees to due process and/or equal 

protection.  The Town has deprived Petitioners of their rights to use the Seneca Depot Property or 

proceed with the Project without compensation, and in violation of the rights to due process and 

equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. 

Constitution, and Article 1, sections 6, 7, 8 and 11 of the New York State Constitution, and are 

therefore liable for Petitioners’ damages (including lost profits from the Project and lost or 

diminished property value), and expert and attorney fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§1983 and 1988, 

as well as the Eminent Domain Procedure Law.  These claims are properly joined in this Article 

78 proceeding, pursuant to CPLR §103(c). 

A. Petitioners Have Been Deprived of Substantive Due Process. 

To establish a claim for violation of substantive due process, a party “must establish a 

cognizable ... vested property interest” and “that the governmental action was wholly without legal 

justification.” Raynor v. Landmark Chrysler, 936 N.Y.S.2d 63, 70, 18 N.Y.3d 48, 59 (2011) (citing 

Bower Assoc. v. Town of Pleasant Val., 2 N.Y.3d 617, 627, 781 N.Y.S.2d 240 (2004).   When one 

“acquire[s] a cognizable property interest, due process assures the [] right to be free from arbitrary 

or irrational municipal actions destructive of this interest.”  Town of Orangetown v. Magee, 643 

N.Y.S.2d 21, 28, 88 N.Y.2d 41, 53 (1996).   

In the zoning context, a government decision regulating a landowner's use of his property 

offends substantive due process if the government action is arbitrary or irrational. See Southview 
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Associates, Ltd. v. Bongartz, 980 F.2d 84, 102-03 (2d Cir. 1992); Brady v. Town of Colchester, 

863 F.2d 205, 215 (2d Cir. 1988); see also Del Monte Dunes, Ltd. v. City of Monterey, 920 F.2d 

1496, 1508 (9th Cir. 1990).  Government regulation of a landowner's use of his property is deemed 

arbitrary or irrational, and thus violates his right to substantive due process, when government acts 

with “no legitimate reason for its decision.” Southview Associates, 980 F.2d at 102-103 (citing 

Shelton v. City of College Station, 780 F.2d 475, 483 (5th Cir. 1986); see also Russell v. Town of 

Pittsford, 94 A.D.2d 410, 412-13, 464 N.Y.S.2d 906, 909 (4th Dep’t 1983) (a government action 

must bear a “‘reasonable relation to a proper governmental purpose so as not to constitute an 

arbitrary exercise of governmental power”’) [citation omitted].   

An action by a town is without legal justification when it is “motivated entirely by political 

concerns.”  Town of Orangetown, 643 N.Y.S.2d 21, 28, 88 N.Y.2d 41, 53 (1996); see also Bower, 

2 N.Y.3d at 627, 781 N.Y.S.2d 240 (2004); Del Monte Dunes at Monterey, Ltd. v. City of 

Monterey, 920 F.2d 1496, 1508 (9th Cir. 1990) (plaintiff’s properly stated a due process claim by 

alleging, with supporting affidavits, that a city had approved their project but later abruptly rejected 

the plan for broad conclusory reasons; and that the rejection was actually motivated by political 

pressure rather than by legitimate regulatory concerns.).   

Here, Petitioners have vested property interests.  Petitioner Seneca is the owner of the real 

property where the Site is located, Pet. ¶ 16, and Circular enerG has negotiated the right to use the 

Site, and is in the process of complying with Article 10 application requirements, Pet.¶ 42.  The 

Town has arbitrarily interfered with these interests by way of the Zoning Amendments.  

Further, the Zoning Amendments were enacted without any legal justification, and thus, 

are arbitrary and capricious. The Zoning Amendments were motivated entirely by political 

pressure.  Representatives of Petitioners met with the Town representatives prior to developing 
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detailed plans, studies and permit applications for the Project.  Pet. ¶ 31.  The discussions were 

favorable to the Project.  Representatives met again in August and again engaged in receptive 

communications.  Pet. ¶ 32.  Petitioner Circular enerG then filed the Application with the Town.  

Pet. ¶ 33.  In December, Petitioner Circular enerG attended a public hearing where hundreds of 

members from the public attended.   Pet. ¶ 36.  Afterwards, the Town turned against the Project, 

and undertook efforts to prohibit the Project.  Pet. ¶ 43.  Circular enerG has opposed all efforts.  

Pet. ¶ 44.  These efforts, including the Zoning Amendments were entirely motivated by political 

pressure and are thus illegitimate.  Thus, this Court should find that Petitioners’ due process rights 

have been violated.  

B. Petitioners Have Been Deprived of Equal Protection.  

The New York State Constitution Section 11, “no person shall be denied the equal 

protection of the laws of this state or any subdivision thereof.”  “It is well settled that the 

constitutional guarantee of equal protection is intended to keep ‘governmental decisionmakers 

from treating differently persons who are in all relevant aspects alike.”’  Great Atlantic & Pacific 

Tea Co., Inc. v. Town of East Hampton, 997 F.Supp. 340, 350-51 (E.D.N.Y. 1998).  Equal 

protection forbids a public authority from enforcing a law “‘with an evil eye and an unequal hand, 

so as practically to make unjust and illegal discriminations between persons in similar 

circumstances.”’  303 West 42nd St. Corp. v. Klein, 416 N.Y.S.2d 219, 223, 46 N.Y.2d 686, 693 

(1979).  

In Weaver v. Town of Rush, 1 A.D.3d 920, 768 N.Y.S.2d 58 (4th Dep’t 2003), the Fourth 

Department allowed an equal protection claim to proceed where the plaintiff alleged that “similarly 

situated property owners are not subjected to such treatment and that defendants lacked a rational 

basis for their disparate treatment of plaintiff.”  The court held: 
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The basic guarantee of the Equal Protection Clause is that government will act 
evenhandedly in allocating the benefits and burdens prescribed by law and will not, 
without at least a rational basis, treat similarly situated persons differently or 
disparately (see City of Cleburne v Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 439, 87 L. 
Ed. 2d 313, 105 S. Ct. 3249; Plyler v Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216, 72 L. Ed. 2d 786, 
102 S. Ct. 2382). Indeed, the purpose of the Equal Protection Clause "is to secure 
every person within the State's jurisdiction against intentional and arbitrary 
discrimination, whether occasioned by express terms of a statute or by its improper 
execution through duly constituted agents" of the government (Village of 
Willowbrook v Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564, 145 L. Ed. 2d 1060, 120 S. Ct. 1073 
[internal quotation marks omitted]; see Sioux City Bridge Co. v Dakota County, 260 
U.S. 441, 445, 67 L. Ed. 340, 43 S. Ct. 190; Sunday Lake Iron Co. v Township of 
Wakefield, 247 U.S. 350, 352, 62 L. Ed. 1154, 38 S. Ct. 495). An equal protection 
claim may be "brought by a 'class of one,' where the plaintiff alleges that she has 
been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and that there is 
no rational basis for the difference in treatment" (Olech, 528 U.S. at 564, citing 
Sioux City Bridge Co., 260 U.S. at 441; Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Co. v County 
Commn. of Webster County, W. Va., 488 U.S. 336, 102 L. Ed. 2d 688, 109 S. Ct. 
633). 
 

Weaver v. Town of Rush, 1 A.D.3d 920, 768 N.Y.S.2d 58 (4th Dep’t 2003). 

To establish a claim for selective enforcement, it must be shown that ‘“(1) the person, 

compared with others similarly situated, was selectively treated, and (2) the selective treatment 

was motivated by an intention to discriminate on the basis of impermissible considerations, such 

as race or religion, to punish or inhibit the exercise of constitutional rights, or by a malicious or 

bad faith intent to injure the person.”’  Zahra v. Town of Southold, 48 F.3d 674, 683 (2d Cir. 1995) 

[citations omitted]; Matter of Northway 11 Communities v. Town Bd. of Town of Malta, 300 

A.D.2d 786, 788 (3d Dep’t 2002).  “[T]here is no denial of equal protection of the laws if the 

differentiation made rests upon some rational consideration and is not palpably arbitrary.”  

Gleason v. Gleason, 308 N.Y.S.2d 347, 356, 26 N.Y.2d 28, 41 (1970).  However, “the greater the 

similarity between those prosecuted and those not prosecuted,” the stronger the inference of “illicit 

motive, since conscious discrimination may then stand out as the only reasonable explanation for 

the pattern of enforcement.”  303 West 42nd St, 416 N.Y.S.2d at 224, 46 N.Y.2d at 695. 
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 Here, Petitioners are being singled out from other developers, including those developing 

other property at the Seneca Army Depot.  The Town has enacted Zoning Amendments specifically 

to try to prevent Petitioners’ Project, but is letting other projects proceed as permitted by the 

Zoning Law.  

 The selective treatment is motivated entirely by political pressure and not by legitimate 

reasons.   The Town is intentionally inhibiting the exercise of Petitioners’ constitutional rights, 

and is acting with a bad faith intent to injure the Petitioners.  Waste-to-Energy is the preferred 

method, by statute, of handling waste within the state.  See ECL §27-0106.  Further, as stated 

above, Waste-to-Energy facilities produce less GHGs then landfills.  Pet. ¶ 96.   

 Thus, Petitioners have been deprived of Equal Protection.  

C. Petitioners Should Recover Damages Under 42 U.S.C. §1983. 
 

Section 1983 “provides protection against municipal actions which violate a landowner’s 

rights under the Just Compensation Clause of the Fifth Amendment or the Due Process Clause of 

the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.” Town of Orangetown v. 

Magee, 88 N.Y.2d 41, 49, 643 N.Y.S.2d 21, 25 (1996).  The Town has acted under the color of 

law to deprive Petitioners of property, without compensation or due process.  These constitutional 

wrongs are actionable under 42 U.S.C. §1983, which provides: 

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom or 
usage, of and State ... subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United 
States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, 
privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to 
the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for 
redress. 

 
In Gomez v. Toledo, 446 U.S. 635, 640 (1980), the Supreme Court stated that: 
 

[b]y the plain terms of [section] 1983, two - and only two - allegations are required 
in order to state a cause of action under that statute. First, the plaintiff must allege 
that some person has deprived him of a federal right. Second, he must allege that 
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the person who has deprived him of that right acted under color of state or territorial 
law. 

 
Section 1983 is applicable to give Petitioners remedies for the constitutional wrongs 

inflicted upon them, since there can be no dispute that the Town has acted “under color of state 

law,” and has deprived Petitioners of their property rights.  

A claim under 42 U .S.C. §1983 is valid if a party establishes he has “a protectable property 

interest” that was entitled to constitutional protection at the time the plaintiff was deprived of that 

interest “by one acting under the authority of law.” Town of Orangetown v. Magee, 88 N.Y.2d 41, 

52,643 N.Y.S.2d 21, 27 (1996) [citing Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U.S. 527,535, 101 S.Ct. 1908, 1912-

1913]. All that is necessary is that the defendant "interfer[ e] with [Plaintiffs] enjoyment of h[is] 

property rights." Weaver v. Town of Rush, 1 A.D.3d 920,922, 768 N.Y.S.2d 58, 60 (4th Dep't 

2003). 

Therefore, in the case at bar, clearly Petitioner Seneca’s ownership of the real property 

where the Site is located, Pet. ¶ 16, and Circular enerG’s initiation of the Article 10 process, Pet.¶ 

42, are protectable under 42 U.S.C. §1983.   Petitioners are entitled to damages, which can be 

determined at trial, as well as an award of legal fees and costs, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §19814, for 

deprivation of those property rights, whether characterized as a deprivation of substantive due 

process or as inverse condemnation.  

D. Petitioners Can Also Recover Damages for Inverse Condemnation.  

Petitioners’ rights to compensation for inverse condemnation are grounded in the Fifth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 7(a) of the New York 

                                                 
4 In the alternative, to the extent an adequate remedy might not be provided under federal law, Plaintiff can recover 
damages for constitutional wrongs under the New York State Constitution. Brown v. State of New York, 89 N.Y.2d 
172, 652 N.Y.S.2d 223 (1996); Wahad v. FBI, 994 F.Supp. 237 (S.D.N.Y. 1998). 
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Constitution, which provide that “private property” shall not “be taken for public use, without just 

compensation.”  Inverse condemnation occurs when the “government has intruded onto the 

citizen’s property and interfered with the owner’s property rights to such a degree that the conduct 

amounts to an unconstitutional taking.”  O’Brien v. City of Syracuse, 54 N.Y.2d 353, 357, 454 

N.Y.2d 687, 689 (1981). 

A taking occurs “without regard to whether the action achieves an important public benefit 

or has only minimal economic impact on the owner.” Dawson v. Higgins, 197 A.D.2d 127, 133, 

610 N.Y.S.2d 200, 205 (1st Dep’t 1994), app. dis’d 83 N.Y.2d 996, 616 N.Y.S.2d 476 (1994), 

cert. den’d 115 S.Ct. 724.  Thus, in Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp., the use of 

no more than 1.5 cubic feet by a cable company was a physical taking.  458 U.S. 419, 102 S.Ct. 

3164 (1982). 

The doctrine of inverse condemnation has long been recognized by the courts of New York 

“as a procedural vehicle for granting damages where an entity clothed with the power of eminent 

domain has interfered with the property rights of a landowner to the extent that it amounts to a 

compensable taking.”  Knapp v. County of Livingston, 175 Misc.2d 112, 118, 667 N.Y.S.2d 662, 

666 (Sup. Ct. Livingston Co. 1997), aff’d 262 A.D.2d 936, 701 N.Y.S.2d 534 (4th Dep’t 1999). 

In the instant case, the Town has taken Petitioners’ rights, and must pay the resulting 

damages.  See, e.g., Cicci v. State, 31 A.D.2d 733, 297 N.Y.S.2d 291 (4th Dep’t 1968) (plaintiff 

entitled to compensation for cancellation of a driveway permit).  Due to the major power deficiency 

at the Depot, the Zoning Amendments deprive Petitioner Seneca Depot of all feasible opportunities 

to provide its property with power.  Pet. ¶ 172.  The Zoning Amendments will eviscerate the vested 

rights of Petitioners, depriving them of economically beneficial or productive use of the Project 

Site and/or the Seneca Depot Property.  Pet. ¶ 173.  Without a large project like the Circular enerG 

FILED: SENECA COUNTY CLERK 09/07/2018 06:28 PM INDEX NO. 20180124

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 19 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 09/07/2018

27 of 40



28 
 

Project, or other projects to provide power that have been banned by the Zoning Amendments, it 

is not feasible to provide sufficient power for industrial development, and the land owned by 

Seneca Depot cannot be economically utilized.  Pet. ¶ 174.   

POINT SEVEN 
 

THE ZONING AMENDMENTS ARE 
UNLAWFUL SPOT ZONING 

 
Town Law §263 require that zoning “shall be made in accordance with a comprehensive 

plan.”  It is well-settled that zoning must be accomplished in accordance with a comprehensive or 

well-considered plan. Salkin, New York Zoning Law and Practice (4th ed.) §4:03; Rodgers v. 

Village of Tarrytown, 302 N.Y. 115, 124 (1951). Where an amendment is not made in accordance 

with a comprehensive plan, it is null and void.  Id.; Kravetz v. Plenge, 84 A.D.2d 422, 476 

N.Y.S.2d 807 (4th Dep't 1982); Reuschenberg v. Town of Huntington, 143 A.D.2d 265, 532 

N.Y.S.2d 148 (2d Dep't 1988).   The courts have labeled such illegal amendments “spot zoning.”   

Kravetz v.  Plenge, 84 A.D.2d 422, 476 N.Y.S.2d 807 (4th Dep't 1982); Salkin, New York Zoning 

Law and Practice (4th ed.) §4:10. 

A. The Zoning Amendments were enacted for an improper purpose. 

 For a zoning ordinance to be a valid exercise of a police power, it must have been enacted 

in furtherance of a legitimate governmental purpose; and there must be a reasonable relation 

between the end sought to be achieved by the regulation and the means used to achieve that end.  

Tupper v. City of Syracuse, 93 A.D.3d 1277, 941 N.Y.S.2d 383 (4th Dep't 2012). For the reasons 

stated above, the Zoning Amendments were not enacted for legitimate purposes. 

B. The Zoning Amendments are in conflict with the comprehensive plan. 

 Municipalities that adopt zoning regulations must do so in accordance with a 

comprehensive plan.  Town Law §263.  The purpose of this requirement is to guard against ad hoc 
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zoning legislation affecting the land of a few without proper regard to the needs or design of the 

community as a whole.  C/S 12th Ave. LLC v. City of New York, 32 A.D.3d 1, 815 N.Y.S.2d 516 

(1st Dep’t 2006); Daniels v. Van Voris, 241 A.D.2d 796, 660 N.Y.S.2d 758 (3d Dep't 1997).  Once 

the comprehensive plan is adopted, all municipal land-use regulations must be in accordance with 

it, mandating that there be comprehensiveness of planning, rather than special interest or irrational 

ad hocery.  Infinity Consulting Group, Inc. v. Town of Huntington, 49 A.D.3d 813, 854 N.Y.S.2d 

524 (2d Dep’t 2008). 

 In reviewing whether a zoning change is contrary to a town's comprehensive plan, a court 

must ultimately consider, among other things, whether the change conflicts with the fundamental 

land-use policies and development plans of the community.  Randolph v. Town of Brookhaven, 37 

N.Y.2d 544, 375 N.Y.S.2d 315 (1975).  For instance, in West Branch Conservation Ass'n v. Town 

of Ramapo, 284 A.D.2d 401, 726 N.Y.S.2d 137 (2d Dep't 2001), the Second Department concluded 

that a town board's zoning amendment permitting operation of a farmers' market was illegal spot 

zoning where commercial zoning and development of the subject property was contrary 

comprehensive plan goals, which included maintaining the town's rural residential character and 

limiting commercial development to certain defined areas within the town.  

Here, the Zoning Amendments constitute illegal spot zoning, being specifically targeted at 

the Project and are contrary to the local comprehensive plans. The Town Comprehensive Plan 

encourages the attraction of business activity into the Depot.  Pet. ¶ 146.   The Zoning Amendments 

only allows “Clean Energy Production-Large Scale,” which substantially limits the type of energy 

production options with its limiting definition, specifically, any “Clean Energy Production” is 

limited to only 25 kW.  See Pet. ¶ 148; Exhibit A, p. 22 (“All uses not listed herein are prohibited.”).  

For the reasons stated above, 25 kW unreasonably restricts the rights of Petitioners and constitutes 
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spot zoning.   

Further, the Zoning Amendments are also in conflict with the Seneca County Draft 

Environmental Conservation Plan (June 2014), which details the importance of waste 

management.”  A “zero waste” management model makes landfilling the last resort, and 

encourages waste diversion and energy recovery: “Waste material is weighed and sorted, separated 

into its various constituent parts, inspected for consistency, re-sorted, and reprocessed, or baled 

for specialist reprocessing and re-manufacture or energy recovery. The goal is to transform 

everything into something of value, and not landfill anything unnecessarily.”  Pet. ¶ 150.  

The Zoning Amendments further conflict with Seneca County Draft Economic 

Development Plan also details the utility service problems with the Depot, which the Project seeks 

to correct.  

The lack of sufficient electric capacity and distribution at the Depot inhibits its 
growth as a job and business center, and Seneca County is committed to supporting 
necessary upgrades. Renewable energy may offer at least a partial solution to the 
Depot’s energy problems. Seneca County is committed to supporting the 
development and use of green energy sources. The Seneca County IDA helps 
promote green energy Projects at the Depot. 

Pet. ¶ 151.   The Zoning Amendments limit utility options for the Depot.  Further, the economic 

goals of the County include Strategy 3H to “Enable alternative and renewable energy production, 

including, but not limited to, solar, hydro, biogas, and wind resources.”  Pet. ¶ 153. Thus, this Plan 

calls for renewable energy projects like the Circular enerG Project. 

C. The Zoning Amendments Were Not Part of a Well-Considered Plan. 

 Prior extensive inquiry may play a part in determining whether zoning regulations have 

been enacted in accordance with a comprehensive or well-considered plan.  Kalvaitis v. Village of 

Port Chester, 235 N.Y.S.2d 44 (Sup. Ct. Westchester Co. 1962).  Lack of sufficient planning when 

enacting legislation has been cited in support of a finding of spot zoning.  Westwood Forest Estates, 
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Inc. v. Village of South Nyack, 23 N.Y.2d 424, 297 N.Y.S.2d 129 (1969); Los-Green, Inc. v. Weber, 

156 A.D.2d 994, 548 N.Y.S.2d 832 (4th Dep't 1989).  Here, the Zoning Amendments were not 

part of any well-considered plan, or the result of a conventional planning process.  Rather, they 

were enacted solely in response to political pressure. 

CONCLUSION 
 

 Based on the above, Petitioners respectfully request that this Court grant the 

Petition/Complaint, and annul and declare as illegal, arbitrary and/or capricious the Zoning 

Amendments enacted by the Town; declare that Petitioners’ constitutional rights were violated by 

the enactment of the Zoning Amendments; declare the Zoning Amendments are preempted by 

Article 10 and/or ECL Article 27; declare the Zoning Amendments are illegal spot zoning; 

schedule a trial to determine Petitioners’ damages, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988, the EDPL and/or 

otherwise; and award Petitioners their costs, expert fees and attorney fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§1988, EDPL §§701 and 702 and Public Officers Law §107(2). 

Dated: Rochester, New York 
 September 7, 2018      

s/Alan J. Knauf                               . 
KNAUF SHAW LLP  

      Attorneys for Petitioners-Plaintiffs 
      Alan J. Knauf, Esq., and 
        Melissa M. Valle, Esq., of Counsel 
      1400 Crossroads Building 
      2 State Street 
      Rochester, New York 14614 
      Tel: (585) 546-8430 
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STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF SENECA SUPREME COURT 

In the Matter of the application for a Judgment 
Pursuant to Article 78 of the Civil Practice Law 
and Rules of: 

WATERLOO CONTRACTORS, INC. 

Petitioner, 

v 

TOWN OF SENECA FALLS TOWN BOARD and TOWN 
OF SENECA FALLS TOWN CLERK 

Respondents. 

DECISION 

INDEX No. 51182 

Petitioner has brought this Article 78 action challenging the "Negative Declaration" 

issued pursuant to SEQRA in connection with Local Law #2 of 2017. Specifically, petitioner 

requests that the Court annul the SEQRA negative declaration issued in connection with Local 

Law # 2 of 2017 and order the respondent Town of Seneca Falls Town Board ("respondent") to 

issue a positive declaration and prepare a Draft Environmental Impact Statement. Petitioner also 

contends that respondents have violated the Open Meetings Law. Petitioner seeks attorney's fees 

resulting from the violation of the Open Meetings Law. Respondents have filed an Answer. 

Petitioner has filed reply papers. 

In 2016, the respondent Town of Seneca Falls Town Board adopted Local Law #3 of 

2016 which restricted waste disposal services in the Town of Seneca Falls. Local Law #J also 

provided that operation of solid waste management facilities in the town would be prohibited by 

the year 2025. In 2017, after a change in the makeup of the Town Board, Local Law #2 of 2017 
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was introduced to rescind Local Law #3 of 2016. A public hearing was held on March 29, 2017 

during which several town residents testified as to the odor from the solid waste disposal services 

and the traffic problems caused by trucks. 

The Town Board met on April 4, 2017, May 2, 2017 and May 5, 2017 to discuss Local 

Law #2 of2017. On May 5, 2017, the Town Board ofthe Town of Seneca Falls, by a vote of3-

2, adopted the SEQRA Negative Declaration (based upon the Short Environmental Assessment 

Form) and adopted Local Law #2 of 2017 which rescinded Local Law #3 . of 2016. Petitioner 

contends that inasmuch as the words "odor", "traffic" or "character of the community" were not 

used at the May 5, 2017 meeting, the town did not take a "hard look" at the adverse 

environmental impact of Local Law #2 of 201 7. Petitioner states that there was no discussion of 

potential adverse environmental impacts at the May 5 meeting before the board adopted the 

negative declaration and Local Law #2. 

In their Reply papers, for the first time, petitioner contends that the respondent 

improperly determined that the adoption of Local Law #2 was an Unlisted action when it should 

have been determined to be a Type I action. An Unlisted action allows for the use of the short 

EAF (6 NYCRR 617.6[a][3]) whereas a Type I action requires the preparation of a full EAF (6 

NYCRR 617.6[a][2]). Specifically, petitioner points to 6 NYCRR 617.4(b)(9) which provides 

that included as a Type I action are "any Unlisted action (unless the action is designed for the 

preservation of the facility or site) occurring wholly or partially within, or substantially 

contiguous to, any historic building, structure, facility, site or district or prehistoric site that is 

listed on the National Register of Historic Places." Petitioner contends that there are a number of 

historic locations in the immediate vicinity of the landfill. 

2 
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In light of the fact that petitioner raised this issue for the first time in the Reply papers, 

this Comt will not address this issue and makes no finding as to whether the action was properly 

characterized as an Unlisted action or should have been treated as a Type I action. Furthermore, 

inasmuch as the petitioner did not fully address the issue before the Town Board, the record is 

incomplete and this Court is unable to rule on the issue. 

For both Type I and Unlisted actions, an EIS (Environmental Impact Statement) is 

required where the lead agency determines that "the action may include the potential for at least 

one significant adverse environmental impact" (6 NYCRR 617.7[a][l]). The EIS is not required 

where the lead agency determines "either that there will be no adverse environmental impacts or 

that the identified adverse environmental impacts will not be significant." Here, respondent 

issued a "negative declaration" thereby determining that there were no significant negative 

environmental impacts and eliminating the need for an Environmental Impact Statement. 

As the Court of Appeals has stated, "SEQRA contains no provision regarding judicial 

review, which must be guided by standards applicable to administrative proceedings generally: 

'whether a determination was made in violation of lawful procedure, was affected by an error of 

law or was arbitrary and capricious or an abuse of discretion' (CPLR 7803 [3]; see, Matter of City 

of Schenectady v Flacke, 100 AD2d 349, 353, lv. denied 63 NY2d 603, Matter of 

Environmental Defense Fund v. Flacke, 96 AD2d 862). In a statutory scheme whose purpose is 

that the agency decision-makers focus attention on environmental concerns, it is not the role of 

the courts to weigh the desirability of any action or choose among alternatives, but to assure that 

the agency itself has satisfied SEQRA, procedurally and substantively" (Jackson v New York 

State Urban Dev. Corp., 67 NY2d 400, 416). 

3 
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This Court's review of the respondent's SEQRA determination is limited to "whether the 

agency identified the relevant areas of environmental concern, took a 'hard look' at them, and 

made a 'reasoned elaboration' of the basis for its determination" (Matter of Jackson v New York 

State Urban Dev. Corp., 67 NY2d 400, 417 [citations omitted]). 

The question here is whether respondent fully complied with SEQRA in enacting Local 

Law #2 of2017. As respondent points out, the landfill has been fully operational, so it is not the 

licensing or approval of the landfill that is in question. Since Local Law #2 of 2017 repealed 

Local Law #3 of 2016 the question is what is the environmental impact, if any, of repealing Local 

Law #3 thereby allowing the landfill to continue operation past the year 2025. The short EAF 

utilized by respondent does not identify a single area of environmental impact from operating the 

landfill past the year 2025. 

Respondent contends that short environmental assessment form required them to consider 

the potential environmental impact of Local Law #2 of 2017 and because there would be no 

change in the operation ofthe landfill until2025, regardless of the adoption ofthe local law, 

there was effectively no environmental impact. Respondent contends that post 2025 operations 

of the landfill are speculative in light of the further regulatory approval that must be provided by 

the NYSDEC. In support of its argument, respondent cites the NYSDEC SEQRA handbook and 

Indus. Liaison Comm. of Niagara Falls Area Chamber o.fCommerce v Williams (72 NY2d 137, 

143). In the Indus. Liaison case, the Court of Appeals stated, "it is not arbitrary and capricious or 

a violation of existing law for the agency, when it takes its 'hard look ' and makes its 'reasoned 

determination' under SEQRA, to ignore speculative environmental consequences which might 

arise under the new or amended regulation." Here, respondent contends that any enviromnental 

4 
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impacts are speculative because the landfill will have to undergo additional regulatory approval 

in order to continue operation after 2025. 

Cases that have cited Indus. Liaison case focus on the speculative nature of the 

environmental impact because of intervening factors, not the necessity of future regulatory 

approvals (see, Schulz v New York State Dept. of Envtl. Conservation, 200 AD2d 793, 795 

[commission need not consider the possibility that proposed regulations would "result in a shift 

from single-family homes and small commercial enterprises to larger types of development, such 

as condominiums and larger motels"]). 

Respondent's argument fails for several reasons. Although the Court is mindful that 

speculative enviromnental impacts should not be considered, respondent's argument would allow 

environmental review under SEQRA to be delayed until the final agency to grant or deny 

approval to a project is set to make a decision. The language of SEQRA itself states, "The basic 

purpose of SEQR is to incorporate the consideration of environmental factors into the existing 

plam1ing, review and decision-making processes of state, regional and local government agencies 

at the earliest possible time [emphasis added]" (6 NYCRR 617.1 [c]). 

Furthermore, SEQRA inherently incorporates some speculation into the environmental 

impact evaluation. An Enviromnental Impact Statement is required when it is determined that 

"The action may include the potential for at least one significant adverse environmental impact 

[emphasis added] (6 NYCRR 617.7[a][l]). 

The fact that continued operation of the landfill after 2025 is subject to further NYSDEC 

approval did not eliminate or minimize the respondent's obligation to take a "hard look" at the 

environmental impact of operating the landfill after 2025. It defies credulity that respondent took 

5 
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a "hard look" at the environmental impacts resulting from the continued operation ofthe landfill 

after 2025 and were able to determine that there was not one single area of environmental 

concern that would result in any impact more than a small impact. 

The respondent's issuance of a negative declaration is hereby annulled as is Local Law #2 

of2017. Based upon the record presented to this Court, respondent is directed to issue a positive 

declaration. 

Petitioner also contends that the Respondent violated Public Officer' s Law§ 103(e) 

which provides, "Agency records available to the public pursuant to article six of this chapter, as 

well as any proposed resolution, law, rule, regulation, policy or any amendment thereto, that is 

scheduled to be the subject of discussion by a public body during an open meeting shall be made 

available, upon request therefor, to the extent practicable as determined by the agency or the 

department, prior to or at the meeting during which the records will be discussed." 

On April 4, 2017, petitioner submitted correspondence to the Town Board outlining six 

categories of potential adverse envirom11ental impacts that would result from the adoption of 

Local Law #2. Petitioner also requested copies of all records scheduled to be discussed at the 

Board's meeting on April4, 2017. Petitioner was not provided with copies. The respondents 

state that the April 4 email was not opened by the town clerk on that date. The board met again 

on May 5, 2017. On that day petitioner again submitted information regarding the negative 

environmental impact and again requested copies of all records scheduled to be discussed at the 

Board's meeting on May 5, 2017. Petitioner was again refused copies of the records. 

Petitioner contends that it is entitled to counsel fees and costs based upon the violations 

of the Public Officers Law§ 103(e) which provides, "Agency records available to the public 

6 
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pursuant to article six of this chapter, as well as any proposed resolution, law, rule, regulation, 

policy or any amendment thereto, that is scheduled to be the subject of discussion by a public 

body during an open meeting shall be made available, upon request therefor, to the extent 

practicable as determined by the agency or the department, prior to or at the meeting during 

which the records will be discussed". 

The Court of Appeals has held that "not every violation of the Open Meetings Law 

automatically triggers its enforcement sanctions [citations omitted]" (Gordon v Vi!. of 

Monticello, Inc., 87 NY2d 124, 127). Specifically, the Court of Appeals stated that unintentional 

or technical violations should not trigger an award of counsel fees. 

Here, attorney for the petitioner, Mr. Zamelis, states that he requested documents before 

both the April 4, 2017 meeting and the at the May 5, 2017 meeting, but none were ever provided. 

With regard to the May 5, 2017, Mr. Zame1is requested the documents both before the meeting 

and at the meeting after they were distributed to the Town Board members. Mr. Zamelis states 

that Supervisor Lazzaro declined to provide him with a copy during the meeting. In his affidavit, 

Supervisor Lazzaro states that the he informed Mr. Zamelis that the documents would be 

provided at the conclusion of the meeting. He also stated, "I then personally provided a detailed 

account of the SEQRA review for Local Law #2 of 2017 and then read into the record the 

complete statement of Findings for Local Law #2 of 2017. As such, all attendees, including 

counsel for Petitioner, were fully apprised of the actions being taken that evening as well as the 

record before the Town Board." 

The Court finds that although the better practice would have been to provide Mr. Zamelis 

with a copy of the documents he requested at the commencement of the meeting or before the 

7 
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meeting, the failure to do so was a technical violation not warranting counsel fees. This Court is 

persuaded that the reading into the record the information that the petitioner was seeking 

minimized the effect of denying Mr. Zamelis copies of the records at the commencement of the 

meeting. 

This constitutes the Decision of the Court. Petitioner is to submit the order on notice to 

the respondents. cp j ID 

DATED: 

8 

r faL___ 
Hon. William F. Kocher 
Acting Supreme Court Justice 
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